THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Frank Addy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2015-002435

---

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

v.

GREGORY FIELDER,

Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Darren S. Haley  
Willie J. Peters  
The Haley Law Firm, LLC  
1007 Pendleton Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 235-6638 (ph)  
(864) 370-1201 (fax)  
Attorneys for Appellant

RECEIVED  
JAN 05 2017  
SC Court of Appeals

##

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- (1) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to conduct an examination to determine if Appellant was fit to stand trial?
- (2) Did the trial court err in admitting impermissible hearsay, and statements for which the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?
- (3) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to sequester James Bryan?
- (4) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to sequester Raymond Johnson?
- (5) Did the trial court err in unreasonably restricting Appellant's ability to testify?
- (6) Did the trial court abuse its discretion by improperly limiting the scope of Appellant's cross-examination of Bryan?
- (7) Did the trial court err in permitting Bryan to testify regarding matters to which he lacked personal knowledge?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from Laurens County General Sessions cases 2012-GS-30-1430, and 2012-GS-30-1431, wherein Gregory Fielder (hereinafter, "Appellant") was charged with Exploitation of a Vulnerable Adult, and Breach of Trust (Greater than \$10,000.00), respectively. The victim in this matter is Virginia Montgomery (hereinafter, "Montgomery").

On February 1, 2011, Montgomery signed a durable power of attorney (hereinafter, "Power of Attorney"), naming Appellant as her attorney-in-fact. (R. pp. 255-258). The Power of Attorney was recorded with the Laurens County Register of Deeds on February 2, 2011. (R. p. 255). The Power of Attorney permits the attorney-in-fact to make conveyances to himself. (R. pp. 255-258).

Subsequent to the execution of the Power of Attorney, certain monies and property of Montgomery were transferred to Appellant. Montgomery died on or about December 20, 2011. Raymond Johnson (hereinafter, "Johnson"), Montgomery's nephew, was appointed as the personal representative for Montgomery's estate. Johnson hired Attorney James Bryan (hereinafter, "Bryan") for representation in the probate of Montgomery's estate, and also for a civil action against Appellant regarding the monies and property that were transferred to Appellant.

In May of 2012, Bryan filed a police report against Appellant with Officer Leann Riggot (hereinafter, "Riggot"). (R. p. 50, lines 11-14). Riggot arrested Appellant on charges of Exploitation of a Vulnerable Adult, and Breach of Trust (Greater than \$10,000.00). (R. p. 54, lines 23-25; R. p. 55, line 1).

A trial was held for this matter from November 2, 2015 through November 5, 2015. The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. presided over the case during pre-trial matters. Due to a conflict, Judge Frank Addy subsequently took over as presiding judge for the jury trial. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned a verdict finding Appellant guilty on both charges. On November 13, 2016, Appellant, through counsel, served a Notice of Appeal on all parties.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY NOT ORDERING AN EXAMINATION TO DETERMINE IF APPELLANT WAS FIT TO STAND TRIAL.**

The trial court's decision not to order an examination to determine if Appellant was fit to stand trial was an abuse of discretion. "Due process of law prohibits the conviction of a person who is mentally incompetent." Jeter v. State, 308 S.C. 230, 232, 417 S.E.2d 594, 595 (1992); State v. Singleton, 322 S.C. 480, 482, 472 S.E.2d 640, 641 (Ct.App. 1996). "Whenever a judge ... has reason to believe that a person on trial before him, charged with the commission of a

criminal offense or civil contempt, is not fit to stand trial because the person lacks the capacity to understand the proceedings against him or to assist in his own defense as a result of a lack of mental capacity, the judge shall: (1) Order examination of such person by two examiners designated by the Department of Mental Health or the Mental Retardation Department or both..." State v. Burgess, 356 S.C. 572, 590 S.E.2d 42 (Ct.App.2003). This court has identified three factors to be considered in determining whether further inquiry into a defendant's fitness to stand trial was warranted. Id. at 575. These factors are: (1) evidence of irrational behavior; (2) demeanor at trial; and (3) prior medical opinion regarding ability to stand trial. In some instances, the presence of just one of the factors may justify further inquiry requiring a mental evaluation." In Alkebulanyahh v. Byars, the United States District Court of South Carolina provided further insight into the factors that are to be considered when determining whether investigation into a defendant's competence is necessary:

The issue over the Petitioner's competency claim "concerns the inferences that were to be drawn from the undisputed evidence and whether, in light of what was then known, the failure to make further inquiry into petitioner's competence to stand trial, denied him a fair trial." Drope v. Missouri, 420 U.S. 162, 174-75 (1975). To prevail on this type of procedural competency claim, Petitioner "must establish that the state trial court ignored facts raising a 'bona fide doubt' regarding the petitioner's competency to stand trial." Burket v. Angelone, 208 F.3d 172, 192 (4th Cir. 2000) (citing Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375, 384-86 (1966)). In analyzing this claim, "evidence of a defendant's irrational behavior, his demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on competence to stand trial are all relevant." Drope, 420 U.S. at 180.

Alkebulanyahh v. Byars, No. 6:13-cv-00918-TLW, at \*12 (D.S.C., 2015) (fastcase).

Immediately after the call of the case, Judge Griffith noticed that Appellant appeared to not be alert. Judge Griffith asked Appellant, "[y]ou seem to be kind of drowsy, what is going on?" (R. p. 8, lines 14-15). Appellant informed Judge Griffith that Appellant was under medical

care. (See R. p. 9, lines 12-14). Due to a conflict, Judge Griffith was not able to preside over the entire trial, and Judge Addy took over after pre-trial motions. Throughout the initial conversation between Judge Griffith and Appellant, Appellant frequently indicated that he did not understand what was taking place. (See R. p. 10, lines 17-21; R. p. 12, line 14; R. p. 19, lines 19-20.) Judge Griffith informed Appellant that he believed Appellant was “fanning” his condition, and Judge Addy would evaluate Appellant. (R. p. 14, lines 17-18).

After Judge Addy began presiding over the case, Appellant provided Judge Addy a physician’s note from Fountain Inn Family Practice, indicating that Appellant was to be evaluated and referring Appellant to a neurosurgeon for radiating back pain from injuries that he sustained after he fell from his porch. (R. p. 29, lines 21-25). Appellant also provided Judge Addy with a prescription bottle, dated October 19, 2015, for Alprazolam, for Appellant’s anxiety. (R. p. 29, line 25; R. p. 30, lines 1-5).

Appellant’s indications that he did not comprehend what was taking place are evidence of irrational behavior. Furthermore, when Judge Griffith first observed Appellant on the first day of trial he stated that Appellant seemed “drowsy.” Judge Griffith made this observation before Appellant had the opportunity to indicate that was feeling the effects of any medication. This indicates that Appellant’s demeanor was abnormal. While there was no prior medical opinion regarding ability to stand trial, Appellant did provide a doctor’s note indicating that Appellant was to be seen for back injuries. Appellant also provided the trial court with a prescription for Alprazolam. Common side effects for Alprazolam may include: drowsiness, feeling tired, slurred speech, lack of balance or coordination, memory problems, and feeling anxious early in the morning. <http://www.drugs.com/alprazolam.html>. Appellant’s drowsiness and memory problems displayed at trial indicate that he may have been suffering from side effects of the

medication. Therefore, the trial court had reason to believe that Appellant was not fit to stand trial, and, under the *Burgess* test, the trial court should have ordered an examination to determine whether or not Appellant possessed the necessary capacity to stand trial. Judge Addy did not ask Appellant if he had been taking his medication as prescribed. Judge Addy did not ask Appellant if he had taken his medication earlier this morning. Also, Judge Addy did not ask whether or not Appellant was under the effects of his medication. In light of what was known at trial, the trial court's refusal to delve into Appellant's mental competency deprived Appellant of a fair trial. On November 2, 2015, during a pre-trial conference, the counsel for the State of South Carolina placed on the record a plea offer, whereby "[t]he State would allow Mr. Fielder to plead guilty of one count of breach of trust over \$10,000.00. The State would in return dismiss the charge of exploitation of a vulnerable adult. The State would recommend probation and restitution to be determined by the Court." (R. p. 33, lines 1-13). Appellant did not accept the offer, and the case proceeded to trial. If Appellant was not fit to stand trial, then it is likely that Appellant was not fit to make an informed decision regarding the State's plea offer. By refusing to order a mental capacity evaluation, Appellant was prejudiced by being deprived of one of the most fundamental rights guaranteed by the Constitution. The trial court's refusal to order an examination to determine if Appellant was fit to stand trial is reversible error.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING IMPERMISSIBLE HEARSAY, AND STATEMENTS FOR WHICH THE PROBATIVE VALUE IS SUBSTANTIALLY OUTWEIGHED BY THE DANGER OF UNFAIR PREJUDICE.**

The trial court abused its discretion by allowing impermissible hearsay, and statements that violate Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence. "Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801, SCRE. Among other protections, the Sixth

Amendment assures: "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him. This procedural protection applies in both federal and state prosecutions by virtue of the Fourteenth Amendment." State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 751 S.E.2d 645 (S.C., 2013). "The right of confrontation is essential to a fair trial in that it promotes reliability in criminal trials and insures that convictions will not result from testimony of individuals who cannot be challenged at trial." California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 90 S.Ct. 1930, 26 L.Ed.2d 489 (1970). The primary interest secured by the Confrontation Clause is the right to cross-examination. State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805 (2001); see also State v. Graham, 314 S.C. 383, 444 S.E.2d 525 (1994) (observing that specifically included in defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront a witness is the right to meaningfully cross-examine an adverse witness). "Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE. "Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis." State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 627, 496 S.E.2d 424, 427 (Ct.App.1998).

Johnson is a nephew of the deceased victim, and he was one of the State's witnesses at the jury trial. Johnson made several hearsay statements regarding the victim's alleged wishes for her estate. When Appellant asked Johnson on cross examination whether or not Montgomery gave Johnson her house, Johnson replied "[s]he was going to." (R. p. 144, line 6). When Appellant asked how was she going to do that "[b]y her word she gave them to me. She gave them to me verbally." (R. p. 144, lines 8-9). Johnson later testified regarding the victim's alleged wishes, "[s]he gave me all of her possessions verbally." (R. p. 144, line 11). Johnson

further testified, “[s]he said...Raymond, when I die, you can have everything, the car, the house, the money, everything. That’s what she said.” (R. p. 144, lines 13-15). These statements are hearsay, as they are offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. They were offered to prove that Montgomery wanted Johnson to receive her entire estate. Not only are these statements impermissible hearsay, but they also violation Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, as their probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Appellant had no opportunity to cross-examine Montgomery, and statements such as these run afoul the interests of justice, because there is a strong likelihood that these statements unfairly influenced the jury.

The trial judge also allowed impermissible hearsay during the State’s direct examination of Riggot. When asked by the State’s counsel if she spoke with the attorney who prepared the Power of Attorney, Riggot replied, “...I was advised that they did do the power of attorney and that Mr. Fielder had contacted them about doing the power of attorney. I was also advised that when they met that the victim did not want her house deeded to the subject.” (R. p. 55, lines 20-23). Again, this is impermissible hearsay, because the statements were offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. These statements were exceedingly prejudicial, due to the potential impact that it had on the jury. Any probative value is greatly outweighed by the prejudicial effect, because Appellant had no opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. Furthermore, Riggot’s statements make the actual identity of the declarant unclear. This could have easily led the jury to speculate regarding the source of the statements. Riggot would further testify that she believed transfer of Montgomery’s house to Appellant was against Montgomery’s interest, and that Montgomery explained to people that she did not want the conveyance to happen. (See R. p. 89, lines 16-24). Lastly, during Appellant’s recross-examination of Riggot, Riggot testified that

the paralegal for the attorney who prepared the Power of Attorney told her that Montgomery did not want the interest her house to be conveyed to Appellant. (R. p. 90, lines 13-25; R. p. 91, lines 1-3 and 18-22). Similar to Riggot's previous statements, these statements are impermissible hearsay, because the statements were offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted, and the probative value is outweighed by the prejudicial effect. As a pro se defendant, Appellant is not well-versed in the rules of evidence. Appellant did not object to these statements. However, in the interests of justice, the trial court should not have allowed these impermissible statements. Appellant was prejudiced by these statements, due the extremely high probability that said statements had a tremendous influence on the jury. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion by allowing impermissible hearsay, and statements that violate Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.

### **III. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY REFUSING TO SEQUESTER JAMES BRYAN.**

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to sequester James Bryan. At the request of a party the court may order witnesses excluded so that they cannot hear the testimony of other witnesses, and it may make the order of its own motion. Rule 615, SCRE. "The purpose of the exclusion rule is, of course, to prevent the possibility of one witness shaping his testimony to match that given by other witnesses at the trial..." State v. Huckabee, 388 S.C. 232, 694 S.E.2d 781 (S.C. App., 2010). "The trial court's ruling on a motion to sequester a witness will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion and prejudice to an appellant." State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 694 S.E.2d 224 (S.C. App., 2010). Over Appellant's objection, the trial court decided not to sequester James Bryan (hereinafter, "Bryan"). (R. p. 48, lines 4-5). Bryan was the attorney for Johnson, the personal representative of Montgomery's estate. Unlike in Carmack, the trial court in this matter abused its discretion by refusing to sequester Bryan, and

Appellant was improperly prejudiced as a result. Since Bryan was never sequestered, he was privy to testimony from all previous witnesses, including testimony relating to the Montgomery's mental competency. Bryan used the testimony from previous witness to form his own opinion of the victim's competency. Furthermore, Bryan improperly gave testimony that was gathered from testimony from previous witnesses. When questioned regarding Montgomery's competency Bryan testified, "[a]ccording to the hospice lady she was confused in February of 2011 when they started it." (R. p. 187, lines 16-17). The "hospice lady" that Bryan had referred to is Cindy McCarty (hereinafter, "McCarty"), a nurse who testified prior to Bryan. During her testimony, McCarty testified that Montgomery was confused at times. (See R. p. 97, lines 7-8). When Appellant questioned Bryan regarding whether he was judging the victim's competency, Bryan stated: "[y]es, based on testimony given in this case and people that I have talked to, not on my independent knowledge." (R. p. 186, lines 9-10). Furthermore, Bryan testified, "I have no expertise myself to make a determination, and I explained to you it was from discussion hearing the hospice person, hearing Dr. Brownlee talk, I have discussed this with Dr. Brownlee prior to this hearing too." (R. p. 188, lines 8-12. See R. p. 190, lines 9-23). Bryan's testimony regarding the victim's mental competency was prejudicial to Appellant, as he based his entire understanding of the victim's mental competency on the testimony of and conversations with other witnesses. Bryan took advantage of his opportunity to draw from other witnesses' testimony to bolster his own. As Bryan clearly indicated, he was in no position to give expert opinions regarding the victim's mental competency. However, that did not stop Bryan from bolstering his own testimony with testimony from previous witnesses. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to sequester Bryan.

#### **IV. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO SEQUESTER RAYMOND JOHNSON.**

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to sequester Raymond Johnson. "At the request of a party the court may order witnesses excluded so that they cannot hear the testimony of other witnesses, and it may make the order of its own motion." Rule 615, SCRE. Witness sequestration is "designed to discourage and expose fabrication, inaccuracy, and collusion." Opus 3 Ltd. v. Heritage Park, Inc., 91 F.3d 625, 628 (4th Cir. 1996). "The purpose of the exclusion rule is... to prevent the possibility of one witness shaping his testimony to match that given by other witnesses at the trial...."United States v. Leggett, 326 F.2d 613, 613 (4th Cir. 1964).

Johnson was privy to testimony from several witnesses that testified about, among other things, the bank records, the victim's mental competency, and the police investigation against Appellant. Appellant was prejudiced by Johnson not being sequestered, because hearing the testimony of other witnesses afforded Johnson an opportunity for comparison and influence. In the interests of justice, the trial court should have sequestered Johnson. In failing to sequester Johnson, the trial court abused its discretion.

#### **V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN UNREASONABLY RESTRICTING APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO TESTIFY ON HIS BEHALF.**

The trial court erred in unreasonably restricting Appellant's right to testify on his own behalf. The right of a criminally accused to testify or not to testify is fundamental. Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 52 (1987) ("[F]undamental to a personal defense . . . is an accused's right to present his own version of the events *in his own words*." (emphasis added)). The right of an accused to testify at a criminal trial is rooted in the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution. Id. at 49-53. Restrictions of a

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