ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

DEC 30 2015
SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-002435

State of South Carolina,Respondent,

v.

Gregory Fielder,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

I. The issue of whether the trial judge abused his discretion in failing to conduct an examination to determine if Appellant was fit to stand trial is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant argues “[t]he trial court’s decision not to order an examination to determine if Appellant was fit to stand trial was an abuse of discretion.” (Brief of Appellant, p.2). This argument is not preserved for appellate review.

“Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide us with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (quoting Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp., 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006)). “It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.” Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (citation omitted). While Appellant argues the trial court erred in not ordering that he undergo a competency evaluation, no such evaluation was requested at trial. As the issue of whether an evaluation should be ordered was neither raised to the trial judge nor ruled upon, it is not preserved for review by this Court. Though Appellant argues his constitutional rights were violated because the trial judge did not order a competency evaluation, this Court has held “[c]onstitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal.” Herron at 465, 719 S.E.2d at 642 (citations omitted).

Regardless, this issue is without merit. “A South Carolina criminal defendant has the

constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions.” State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014) (citing State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 600, 698 S.E.2d 604, 610 (2010)). “The test for competency to stand trial or continue trial is whether the defendant has the sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and whether he has a rational, as well as factual, understanding of the proceedings against him.” McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 481, 575 S.E.2d 841, 843 (2003). In determining whether further inquiry into a defendant's fitness to stand trial is warranted, the trial court should consider factors such as “evidence of his or her irrational behavior, his or her demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on his or her competence to stand trial.” State v. Burgess, 356 S.C. 572, 575, 590 S.E.2d 42, 44 (Ct. App. 2003). A trial judge’s decision on a request for a competency evaluation is within the judge’s discretion and will not be overturned absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. State v. Locklair, 341 S.C. 352, 364, 535 S.E.2d 420, 426 (2000).

Appellant failed to demonstrate the trial judge should have ordered a competency evaluation in this case. Appellant represented himself at trial and – as is obvious after a review of the record – was extremely familiar with the facts and evidence. While Appellant often disagreed with the trial judge’s rulings on issues regarding rules and procedures, the record is devoid of any indication Appellant did not understand the proceedings against him. Appellant’s argument that a competency evaluation should have been ordered based on his pre-trial interactions with Judge Griffith is unpersuasive. While Judge Griffith commented Appellant looked “drowsy” and Appellant stated he was receiving medical care, there is no evidence in the

record that Appellant was impaired in any way. (R. pp. 8-9). Further, though Appellant mentioned three times that he did not understand what was going on, he engaged with Judge Griffith about his concerns and it appears he simply did not understand why the case was proceeding even though he claimed to have a doctor's appointment that day. (R. p. 10; p.12; p.19). Appellant's argument that an evaluation should have been ordered based on his interactions with the trial judge is similarly unpersuasive. Appellant presented a doctor's note and prescription bottle to the trial judge but did not indicate either that he was suffering any psychiatric issues or that his purported medical ailments prevented him from understanding the proceedings. (R. pp. 29-30). The trial judge, in his interactions with Appellant prior to the commencement of trial, clearly believed Appellant's alleged medical issues (as well as the thirty-three motions filed by Appellant) were merely a delay tactic – and said so at the time. (R. p. 40). The trial judge noted Appellant was capable of proceeding to trial and “seem[ed] totally lucid.” (R. p. 31). The record is devoid of any evidence Appellant did not understand the proceedings against him, was behaving irrationally, or exhibited a troubling demeanor at trial. See McLaughlin, 352 S.C. at 481, 575 S.E.2d at 843; Burgess, 356 S.C. at 575, 590 S.E.2d at 44. Appellant failed to show the trial judge abused his discretion in failing to sua sponte order a competency evaluation. See Locklair, 341 S.C. at 364, 535 S.E.2d at 426.

II. The issue of whether the trial judge erred in admitting hearsay is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant argues “[t]he trial court abused its discretion by allowing impermissible hearsay, and statements that violate Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence.” (Brief of Appellant, p.5). This argument is not preserved for appellate review.

Though Appellant argues State witnesses Riggot and Johnson provided hearsay and prejudicial testimony, Appellant did not object and make this argument at trial. As Appellant did not make objections to purported hearsay or prejudicial testimony and the trial judge was not afforded the opportunity to rule upon such objections, this issue is not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes, 339 S.C. at 412, 529 S.E.2d at 546.

Regardless, this issue is without merit. Hearsay is “a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. “It is well settled that evidence is not hearsay unless offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct. App. 2009) (citations omitted). “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE. Appellant alleges five separate instances of purported hearsay testimony from State witnesses Riggot or Johnson in the trial transcript. Each is noted infra.

A.

Riggot stated the following during direct examination: “I was advised that they did do the power of attorney and that [Appellant] had contacted them about doing the power of attorney. I was also advised that when they met that [Victim] did not want her house deeded to the subject.” (R. p. 55).

B.

Riggot had the following exchange with the prosecutor on re-direct examination:

Q: And would it have been in your, during the course of your investigation against the interests of the now deceased [victim]?

A: Yes, I believe it was in it, not within her best interest, yes.

Q: And against her actual wishes that she had described?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And that she actually explained to people?

A: Yes, sir.

(R. p. 89).

C.

Riggot had the following exchange with Appellant on re-cross examination:

Q: Who did she tell the wishes to?

A: A paralegal that works at Robert Whitesides office.

Q: She told her wishes to him –

A: To her.

Q: – or her?

A: That's what she told me, yes.

Q: And after she told her her wishes, what all did she wish for?

A: The only thing I can say is she told the paralegal at Whitesides office she did not wish the house to be deeded to [Appellant].

Q: And she worked at Attorney Whitesides office?

A: Yes, sir.

(R. pp. 90-91).

D.

Riggot had this further exchange with Appellant on re-cross examination:

Q: So you took somebody's declaration of wishes to be truth?

A: Yes.

Q: Based on what?

A: She told me.

(R. p. 91).

E.

Johnson had the following exchange with Appellant on cross-examination:

Q: Okay. Did she give you her house?

A: She was going to.

Q: How was she going to do that?

A: By her word she gave them to me. She gave them to me verbally.

Q: Okay. Did she give you her car?

A: She gave me all of her possessions verbally.

Q: How did she say that?

A: She said, she said, Raymond, when I die, you can have everything, the car, the house, the money, everything. That's what she said.

(R. p. 144).

F.

Appellant cannot demonstrate any of the foregoing testimony should have been excluded because "its probative value [was] substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." Rule 403, SCRE. Even assuming arguendo that some of this testimony included hearsay, its admission would amount to harmless error. See State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (finding improper admission of hearsay testimony to be harmless error where there was abundant evidence in the record from which the jury could have found the defendant guilty, notwithstanding the hearsay testimony); State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 288, 625 S.E.2d 641, 646 (2006) ("The improper admission of hearsay is reversible error only when the admission causes prejudice."). The State presented overwhelming evidence that Appellant was guilty of the charges as indicted. In the last year of her life, Victim was elderly, in very poor health, and often confused. During this time period, Victim executed a power of attorney (in favor of Appellant) and Appellant withdrew more than \$137,000 from Victim's accounts within

two weeks of the execution of that document. Appellant deeded Victim's car and house to himself within two months of her death. Appellant admitted in a deposition that he was holding Victim's house in trust and Victim's family were the rightful owners of this property. As the State presented abundant evidence Appellant was guilty of the exploitation of a vulnerable adult and breach of trust, any error that may have been present in alleged admission of hearsay statements was harmless. Accordingly, Appellant failed to demonstrate the trial judge erred in admitting inadmissible hearsay.

III. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to sequester James Bryan.

Appellant argues "[t]he trial court abused its discretion by refusing to sequester James Bryan" during trial. (Brief of Appellant, p.8). This argument is without merit.

On the second day of trial, the State moved "to sequester the witnesses for this case as we are now getting into substantive witnesses." (R. p. 44). The State argued, however, that Raymond Johnson and James Bryan should be allowed to remain because they were the victim and representative of the estate, respectively. (R. pp. 44-45). The trial judge explained to Appellant that he generally grants motions for sequestration. (R. pp. 45-46). Appellant objected to James Bryan being allowed to remain in the courtroom because he would be a testifying witness. (R. p. 46). The trial judge noted Appellant's objection but allowed Bryan to remain in the courtroom. (R. pp. 47-48).

Rule 615 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence allows the trial judge to sequester witnesses. "[T]he decision to sequester witnesses is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Singleton, 395 S.C. 6, 15, 716 S.E.2d 332, 337 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting State v.

Fulton, 333 S.C. 359, 375, 509 S.E.2d 819, 827 (Ct. App. 1998)). “Whether a witness should be exempted from a sequestration order is within the trial court’s discretion.” Id. (citation omitted).

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to sequester Bryan. The trial judge explained his rationale for allowing Bryan to remain in the courtroom:

He’s an attorney and a witness, but he’s appearing in the representative capacity on behalf of the Decedent’s estate. And in my view of it, that gives him essentially, as a representative of the alleged victim, that gives him the same right to stay as if we had an actual living victim present.

(R. p. 47). As Bryan was the attorney representing the estate of the deceased – whom Appellant was on trial for having exploited and defrauded – it was within the trial judge’s discretion to exempt him from the sequestration order. Appellant’s main contention appears to be that Bryan’s testimony incorporated elements from previous witnesses’ testimony. This Court has held, however, that “[t]he mere opportunity for the State’s witnesses to compare testimony is insufficient to compel sequestration.” State v. Carmack, 388 S.C. 190, 197, 694 S.E.2d 224, 227 (Ct. App. 2010) (citation omitted). Though Bryan would also testify as a State witness, Appellant was able to thoroughly cross-examine Bryan if he perceived Bryan’s testimony parroted testimony of another State witnesses. See id. at 198, 694 S.E.2d at 227-28 (holding “the threat that exposure to other testimony would taint subsequent testimony was alleviated by affording [the defendant] the opportunity to impeach any witnesses who altered their accounts”). As such, he cannot demonstrate he was prejudiced because the trial judge exempted Bryan from the sequestration order. Accordingly, Appellant has failed to demonstrate the trial judge abused his discretion in this matter.

IV. The issue of whether the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to sequester Raymond Johnson is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant argues “[t]he trial court abused its discretion by refusing to sequester Raymond Johnson.” (Brief of Appellant, p.10). This argument is not preserved for appellate review.

As noted supra, the State moved to sequester the witnesses – excepting Johnson and Bryan. (R. pp. 44-45). While Appellant objected to Bryan’s sequestration, he did not object to Johnson being sequestered during trial. (R. p. 46). As such, the trial judge was not afforded the opportunity to rule upon the issue and this argument is not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes, 339 S.C. at 412, 529 S.E.2d at 546.

Regardless, this issue is without merit. As discussed supra, the decision to sequester witnesses (or exempt them from sequestration) is in the discretion of the trial judge. See Singleton, 395 S.C. at 15, 716 S.E.2d at 337. Appellant has failed to demonstrate the trial judge abused his discretion in exempting Johnson from sequestration. Appellant was on trial for exploiting the deceased victim in this case (who was vulnerable, suffering from advanced breast cancer, and elderly) and fraudulently transferring property to himself for his own use. Johnson was one of three beneficiaries of the deceased victim’s estate. As such, Johnson was clearly a victim in this case and there was no abuse of discretion in exempting him from the sequestration order – even if he was also to be a testifying witness. Appellant cannot demonstrate he was prejudiced by the trial judge’s decision, as he was able to thoroughly cross-examine Johnson about any perceived similarities to testimony from prior witnesses. See Carmack, 388 S.C. at 198, 694 S.E.2d at 227-28. Accordingly, Appellant has failed to demonstrate the trial judge abused his discretion in this matter.

V. The issue of whether the trial judge unreasonably restricted Appellant's right to testify is not preserved for appellate review.

Appellant argues “[t]he trial court erred in unreasonably restricting Appellant’s right to testify on his own behalf.” (Brief of Appellant, p.10). This argument is not preserved for appellate review.

Though Appellant argues the trial judge committed error because he restricted Appellant’s right to testify, Appellant did not object and make this argument at trial. As Appellant did not make an objection, the trial judge was not afforded the opportunity to rule upon it, and this issue is not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes, 339 S.C. at 412, 529 S.E.2d at 546.

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